ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

S.C. Supreme Court

DAVID C. CARSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001857  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1.) Trial counsel erred in failing to request that the solicitor elect which charge to pursue (murder or accessory after the fact of murder) against petitioner, or in the alternate to sever petitioner's case from the co-defendant's case, because the witnesses' testimony connected petitioner to the accessory charge and co-defendant Jones to the murder charge, which in turn meant that the improper joinder of the cases and charges prejudiced petitioner by bootstrapping him to the co-defendant's murder charge.
- 2.) Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the "hand of one is the hand of all" charge because the record was devoid of any evidence linking petitioner to the murder, which the co-defendant admitted he alone committed, via accomplice liability.

## STATEMENT

Petitioner David C. Carson was convicted of murder per jury trial held during the March 2010 term of the Spartanburg County General Sessions Court before Judge E.C. Burnett, III. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of thirty years. App. 1 – 339. Andrew Johnston represented petitioner at trial, and Deputy Solicitor Barry Barnette appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner appealed, but on April 25, 2012, his conviction and sentence were affirmed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. See State v. Carson, No.2012-UP-243 (S.C. Ct. App. April 25, 2012). Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best represented petitioner on direct appeal.

On November 28, 2012, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Spartanburg County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 341-348. The respondent filed a return dated October 3, 2013, requesting that a hearing be held in response to petitioner's PCR action. App. 349-353.

A PCR hearing was convened on April 10, 2014, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse before Judge J. Derham Cole. App. 355-404. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Leah B. Moody, and Assistant Attorney General Suzanne H. White appeared on behalf of the state.

On July 25, 2014, Judge Cole issued an Order of Dismissal denying petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the case. App. 355 – App. 412.

Petitioner appealed Judge Cole's Order of Dismissal from the case. This petition follows.

## QUESTION I

Trial counsel erred in failing to request that the solicitor elect which charge to pursue (murder or accessory after the fact of murder) against petitioner, or in the alternate to sever petitioner's case from the co-defendant's case, because the witnesses' testimony connected petitioner to the accessory charge and co-defendant Jones to the murder charge, which in turn meant that the improper joinder of the cases and charges prejudiced petitioner by bootstrapping him to the co-defendant's murder charge.

Petitioner and co-defendant Jones were tried jointly for the murder of David Miller whose dead body was never found. In addition, the solicitor added the charge of accessory after the fact of murder to petitioner's indictment. No accessory charge was levied against co-defendant Jones. There was no substantial circumstantial evidence connecting petitioner to Miller's murder. To the contrary, the evidence proved that co-defendant Jones was guilty of murder and that petitioner was guilty of accessory; but nonetheless, counsel neither moved to require the solicitor to elect one charge upon to which to try petitioner nor to sever petitioner's case from the co-defendant's case. Note that neither petitioner nor Jones testified at trial and that neither of the men called witnesses in their defense. Petitioner was convicted of murder only and Jones was convicted of murder also. The state's theory of the case was that Miller was last seen alive in the company of petitioner and co-defendant Jones and that they were responsible for his death.

The evidence adduced at trial proved clearly that co-defendant Jones committed the murder. Jones told two witnesses that he "killed a guy." Petitioner gave a statement indicating that he disposed of the body. Petitioner's defense as argued by defense counsel per a directed verdict motion outlined how there was no substantial circumstantial evidence presented establishing that

petitioner committed murder. This was outlined by defense counsel per his motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the murder charge on petitioner's behalf.<sup>1</sup>

At trial, state's witness Steve Reddish testified that he and Miller, along with petitioner and co-defendant Jones, were hanging out on Sunny Street in Spartanburg on Saturday, July 30, 2005, and that after midnight Miller drove off in his truck and then petitioner and co-defendant Jones drove off together in one vehicle. Reddish stated that he never saw Miler again. App. 81, l. 5 – p. 87, l. 19.

State's witness Harry Bowing and Mark Davis testified that they both saw Miller, petitioner, and co-defendant Jones in a pool hall in the area in question on Saturday, July 30, 2005, and that a few days later, co-defendant Jones confessed to both of them (Bowing and Davis) that he (co-defendant Jones) had killed a man. App. 106, l. 18 – p. 111, l. 8; App 122, l. 1 – p. 127, l. 5.

Diane Stephens testified that around 2:00 a.m. on July 31, 2005, she heard a truck pull into her yard, and that she heard two car doors slam shut and the car driving off. Stephens stated that later she saw Miller's truck in her yard, but that it was not parked where he (Miller) usually parked. App. 97, l. 17 – p. 105, l. 22.

Petitioner's girlfriend Sharon Valentine testified that when petitioner returned her car to her on July 31, 2005, she found blood all inside of it. App. 127, l. 13 – p. 135, l. 17. DNA tests results showed that the blood stains inside her car matched Miller's blood type. App. 250, l. 18-25.

---

<sup>1</sup> Counsel argued that "the State has presented no evidence that [petitioner] was directly responsible for the unlawful killing with malice aforethought of Darryl Miller. The evidence that has been presented shows that he drove the car with the deceased body, that the car had blood in it, and the blood belonged to the deceased, and that he attempted to clean the car of this evidence. However, there is, again, no evidence that he acted in concert with anyone else who might have killed this gentlemen, and there is no evidence that he actually performed any act which led to that person's death. In fact, the only evidence in the record that someone actually unlawfully killed anyone is evidence that [co-defendant] Jones made admissions that he and he alone, not acting in concert with [petitioner], killed this gentleman. So, we would again ask for a directed verdict of not guilty on count one of the murder charge." App. 272, l. 4 – p.273, l. 9.

Police Officer Jay Steadman questioned co-defendant Jones and petitioner soon after these events occurred because they were both considered suspects in the case. Officer Steadman testified that co-defendant Jones admitted he stated that he killed Miller, but that he was joking. App. 146, l. 5 – p. 147, l. 9. Officer Steadman added further that he questioned petitioner also and that petitioner stated that he and Miller were at a residence on Caulder Avenue in Spartanburg where a guy fought, robbed, and shot Miller, and that he (petitioner) put Miller’s body in the car he was driving, took it to some woods in Union County and dumped it there. App. 142, l. 1 – p. 156, l. 25.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified in effect that trial counsel erred in failing to require the solicitor to elect which of two charges (murder and accessory after the fact of murder) to take to trial, or in the alternate to sever his trial from co-defendant Jones’ trial, because he (petitioner) “only cleaned up the crime scene” and “disposed of the body,” but did not commit murder. App. 366, l. 2 – 12; App. 368, l. 16 – p. 369, l. 6; App. 374, l. 4 – 24; App. 377, l. 3 – 12.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing and explained that he did not object to a joint trial or joint charges because the joinders were “strategically sound” since co-defendant Jones “mentioned nothing about [petitioner] having played any role” in the murder and the evidence pointed to petitioner as being guilty of accessory rather than murder. Counsel stated that telling the jury that petitioner was “guilty of accessory [and]not guilty of murder...was the best play.” App. 382, l.13 – p. 384, l. 17; App. 387, l. 9 – p. 389, l. 2.

The PCR judge ruled that counsel articulated a valid strategy in support of not moving for a severance of the charges or the trial on petitioner’s behalf because there was no need for either action where there was insufficient proof that petitioner was guilty of murder, but sufficient proof that he was guilty of accessory after the fact of murder only in the case. App. 409-410.

As a rule, offenses can be joined in one indictment if the offenses arise out of a single chain of circumstances, and are proved by the same evidence, and are of the same general nature and that no prejudice results. City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 211 S.E.2d 865 (1947). However, the joinders in petitioner's case prejudiced his defense since he was charged with murder and accessory, **and** could not be found guilty of both, because this meant that it was certainly likely that the jury would **infer** that petitioner committed murder by mere association or mere presence with co-defendant Jones, who admitted he committed murder, despite the fact that the record is absolutely devoid of any proof that petitioner committed murder via the accomplice liability charged. Compare, State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (1985), where the Court struck down the joinder of two forgery charges in part because although the two forgeries were unconnected, the jury might have **inferred** that the criminal disposition that led the defendant to commit one forgery rendered him capable of committing the other forgery. Compare also State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 470 S.E.2d 364 (1996), where the Court held that the trial judge erred in failing to sever ABHAN and homicide charges against the defendant (children's mother) because there was no evidence that the defendant committed homicide, but evidence of guilt on the ABHAN offense probably led the jury to **infer** guilt on the homicide offense.

In the case at bar, co-defendant Jones admitted that he murdered Miller. Therefore, since there was no substantial circumstantial evidence presented establishing that petitioner aided and abetted along with co-defendant Jones' murder of Miller (other being present with the two men at some point), the joinder of the offenses of murder and accessory constituted error as the evidence established that petitioner committed the offense of accessory only. Additionally, in light of the evidence in the case that showed that petitioner was guilty of accessory only and not guilty of murder via accomplice liability, it was clear that petitioner's and co-defendant Jones' defenses were

antagonistic; and therefore, counsel should have moved for a severance of petitioner's trial from co-defendant Jones' trial on this basis also. Criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right unless a defendant requests a trial severance based on the likelihood that he and his co-defendant would present mutually antagonistic defenses. State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 523 S.E.2d 173 (1999).

Thus, counsel erred in not moving to require the solicitor to elect which charge of the two on which to try petitioner, particularly since he could not have been convicted on both of these two charges, or in the alternate counsel erred in not moving to sever the trial of petitioner from co-defendant Jones' trial. Counsel's errors as outlined above constituted ineffective assistance of counsel at trial in violation of the Sixth Amendment (see also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)); and petitioner was prejudiced as a result because the joint charges and joint trial led the jury to **infer** that petitioner was guilty of murder, particularly since petitioner could not have been convicted of both charges. But for counsel's errors, a reasonable probability exists that petitioner's trial would have ended differently.

## QUESTION II

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the "hand of one is the hand of all" charge because the record was devoid of any evidence linking petitioner to the murder, which the co-defendant admitted he alone committed, via accomplice liability.

Petitioner testified during the PCR hearing that trial counsel erred in failing to object to the accomplice liability charge because it was not a proper charge in the case as he did not act in concert with co-defendant Jones to commit murder. App. 374, l. 10 – p. 376, l. 1.

With regard to this issue, trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that the accomplice liability charge was applicable and supported by the evidence. App. 393, l. 2 – p. 394, l. 10. The trial judge charged the jury on the law of accomplice liability. App. 316, l. 14 – p. 318, l. 11. The PCR judge ruled trial counsel was not ineffective in this regard. App. 410 – 411.