STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001857

RECEIVED

APR 30 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

David C. Carson.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR Court properly hold that Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial for failing to make a motion to force the State to elect which theory of the case they were proceeding on, or alternatively, failing to make a motion to sever Petitioner's case from his co-defendant, Jones, when Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof?

Did the PCR Court properly hold that Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial for failing to object to the jury instructions regarding "hand of one, hand of all," when Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Spartanburg County. The Petitioner was indicted at the July 2009 term of the Court of General Sessions for Spartanburg County for murder and accessory after the fact to a felony¹ (2009-GS-42-3379(A)). He was represented by Andrew Johnston, Esquire. On March 15-17, 2010, the Petitioner proceeded to trial after which he was found guilty of murder. He was sentenced by the Honorable E.C. Burnett III, to confinement for a period of thirty (30) years.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on the Petitioner's behalf and an appeal was perfected. Following the submission of a brief pursuant by Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best, Esquire, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's sentence. State v. Carson, No. 2012-UP-243 (filed April 25, 2012). The Remittitur was issued on May 15, 2012.

The Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application on November 28, 2012. The Respondent made its Return on or about October 3, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on April 10, 2014, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Leah B. Moody, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent. At the hearing, the Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Andrew Johnston, Esquire, testified on behalf of the State. The Honorable J. Derham Cole denied the PCR application by written Order dated July 25, 2014.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

¹ This count was *nol prossed* after the trial concluded.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR Court properly held that Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial for failing to make a motion to force the State to elect which theory of the case they were proceeding on, or alternatively, failing to make a motion to sever Petitioner’s case from his co-defendant, Jones, when Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof.**

Petitioner argues that Counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the State should “elect” which theory they were proceeding on instead of charging Petitioner both with murder and accessory after the fact of murder. Alternatively, Petitioner argues that Counsel should have made a motion to sever the trial of Petitioner from his Jones.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable

professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Petitioner testified that Counsel was ineffective for failing to make a pre-trial motion to sever Petitioner and his Jones's trials or alternatively, Counsel should have objected to the State proceeding on both offenses and requested they choose between the two. (App. p. 365). Petitioner claimed that the two offenses in his indictment were "misjoinders," later explaining that he believed there was no relationship between the two offenses he proceeded to trial for. (App. p. 365). Petitioner testified that he did not commit the murder, so he should not have been tried with the Jones. (App. p. 366). However, Petitioner never discussed the possibility of a severance with Counsel or the possibility of requiring the State to elect which charge they wished to proceed on. (App. p. 366; p. 370, lines 16-19; p. 372, lines 13-25; p. 373, line 1).

Petitioner testified that he was originally charged with murder, but did not find out about count 2, the accessory after the fact of murder, until the day of trial. (App. p. 367). Contradicting himself, Petitioner then testified that he informed Counsel during an hour long meeting thirty days before trial that he was willing to plead to accessory after the fact. (App. p. 368; p. 369,

lines 13-17; p. 370, 1-15; p. 380, lines 22-25; p. 381, line 1). Petitioner testified that during the one hour long meeting with Counsel he shared with Counsel his involvement with the murder, which included Petitioner cleaning the crime scene and disposing of the victim's body. (App. p. 369).

Petitioner acknowledged that Counsel made a directed verdict motion on his behalf arguing that the State failed to present evidence to show that Petitioner was directly responsible for the murder, but the motion was denied by the trial court. (App. p. 371). Petitioner testified Petitioner also acknowledged that Counsel successfully requested the jury be charged that they could find Petitioner guilty of either charge, but not of both. (App. p. 378, lines 2-6). Petitioner further testified that he did not, during his alleged only two meetings with Counsel, provide Counsel with any possible witnesses or defenses. (App. p. 380, lines 15-21).

Counsel testified that the Counsel testified that the Petitioner was aware of count 2 - accessory after the fact, prior to the trial. In fact, Counsel testified that according to the record, Petitioner was directly indicted for both murder and accessory after the fact in July 2009 and the trial was in March 2010. (App. p. 398-9). Counsel testified that the trial strategy was to show that Petitioner was guilty of accessory after the fact, not of murder. (App. p. 383, lines 22-25; p. 384, lines 1-23; p. 387, lines 17-25; p. 388, lines 1-5). Because Jones made several statements to others claiming he killed the victim and none of the evidence for murder pointed to Petitioner, but rather Jones, Counsel made the strategic decision to proceed with the joint trial. (App. p. 384). However, Counsel testified that Petitioner informed him that he had the victim in his car driving around immediately prior to victim's death, but did not take the victim to the hospital or call police, but instead took the victim's body to Union County and disposed of it. (App. p. 383, lines 7-21).

Our courts are understandably wary of second-guessing defense counsel's trial tactics. Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choice of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992). See also Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005); McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003). The lower court properly found that Counsel articulated valid strategic reasons for not making a motion to sever the trials and proceeding with the strategy of arguing to the jury that Petitioner was only guilty of accessory after the fact and Petitioner failed to show that Counsel was deficient in that choice of tactics. (App. p. 410). Petitioner also failed to provide any evidence, testimony, or legal basis to support his claim that the outcome of his trial would be any different had Counsel moved to have the State elect which charge to proceed on, or alternatively, move to sever Petitioner's case from Jones'. In fact, in a case very similar to the factual scenario of Petitioner's case, the Supreme Court of South Carolina found error when the trial court refused to charge that a defendant could be found guilty of an accessory after the fact to murder charge when charged with murder, when the charge was presented as to the co-defendant. State v. Roof, 298 S.C. 351, 380 S.E.2d 828 (1989).

The lower court had probative evidence to support the finding that Petitioner failed to meet his required burden of proof and the ruling should be affirmed.

II. The PCR Court properly held that Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial for failing to object to the jury instructions regarding "hand of one, hand of all," when Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof.

Petitioner also alleged that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury charge regarding the "hands of one, hands of all."

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial

process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Petitioner testified that he felt that Counsel should have objected to the jury instruction regarding “hands of one, hands of all.” (App. p. 374.) Petitioner testified that because of Counsel’s earlier directed verdict motion arguing that there was no evidence presented to show Petitioner was directly responsible for or acted in concert with another to cause the death of the victim, Petitioner believed that Counsel should have objected to the charge. (App. p. 375). However, Petitioner acknowledged that he never addressed that issue with Counsel. (App. p. 375, lines 8-14).

Counsel testified that he did not believe there was any direct evidence warranting the “hands of one, hands of all” charge, but there was circumstantial evidence that led to the State’s theory of murder. (App. p. 393, lines 2-25; p. 394, lines 1-10). Counsel testified that he believed the charge was a correct statement of law at the time and did not find the charge objectionable based upon the fact that there was circumstantial evidence presented which placed Jones and the Petitioner with the victim directly prior to his disappearance and murder. (App. p. 394, lines 1-10).

Petitioner provided three statements to law enforcement, including one in which he claimed he left the victim at a club and one in which the victim was robbed by an unknown assailant. Petitioner told law enforcement that after the robbery and after the victim *had been shot*, he attempted to take the victim to the hospital but was unable to do so, because the hospital doors were closed. (App. p. 147-150). At trial, the case detective testified that the emergency room at Spartanburg Regional Hospital, where Petitioner claimed he took the victim, is never closed. (App. p. 156, lines 11-13). Petitioner also stated to law enforcement when he could not get into the emergency room, he then fell asleep in his car with the victim’s body in the front seat with him. (App. p. 150). He told police he eventually decided to dispose of the body because he did not believe anyone would believe his story that he had been the victim of a robbery. (App. p. 156). He told police he disposed on the body in Union County. (App. p. 153). Police attempted to locate the victim’s body. However, Police could not locate the body even though Petitioner accompanied them to Union County on approximately ten (10) occasions to show them where he believed he had hidden the body. (App. p. 153). Clearly, there was substantial circumstantial evidence to allow the jury charge of “hand of one, hand of all,” in this case.

The lower court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury charge as there was no legal basis to object. (App. p. 411). “If any evidence supports a requested jury charge, the trial court should grant the request.” State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 614, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007). Just as in Petitioner’s case, Ward involved a theory supported by evidence at trial that Ward and his co-defendant joined together to accomplish an illegal purpose; therefore, the Court of Appeals found that “it was appropriate for the trial court to instruct the jury that if it found such a joint endeavor existed, each defendant was liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of that endeavor.” State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 614, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007).

The court also found that Petitioner failed to establish any deficient behavior on Counsel’s behalf, failing to meet the first prong of establishing ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. p. 411). There was probative evidence to support the lower court’s ruling and it should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.